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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE L.TD

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

The directors are pleased to present their statement to the member together with the audited financial
statements of Liberty Insurance Pte Lid (the Company) for the financial year ended 31 December
2024,

1. Opinion of the directors

In tire opinion of the directors,

(i} the financial statements of the Company are drawn up so as o give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and the financial
performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that
date; and

(i} at the date of this statement there are reasonahle grounds to believe that the Company will
be able 1o pay its debts as and when they fall due.

2, Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Christopher John Alexander {Appointed on 25 July 2024)

Yasar Fistikci {Appointed on 14 August 2024)

3. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any

arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the

Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or dehentures of the

Company or any other body corporate.

4. Directors' interests in shares and debentures

No director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, share

options, warranis or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the

beginning of the financial year, or date of appointment if later, or at the end of the financial year.
5. Share options

During ihe financial vear:

+ No options have been granted to the controlling shareholders of the Company and their
associates

+ No options have been granted to directors and employees of the holding companies and its
subsidiaries

« No options that entitle the holder to participate, by virtue of the options, in any share issue
of any other corporation have been granted
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

6. Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditor.

On behalf of the board of directors:

Yasar Fistikci
Director

(s L amder

Christopher John Alexander
Director

Singapore
24 April 2025
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Independent Auditor's Report to the Member of Liberty Insurance Pte Ltd
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Liberty Insurance Pte Ltd (the Company) set out on
pages 6 to 65, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2024, the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including summary of material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 1967 and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as
to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and of
the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on
that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Cur
responsibilities under those standards are furiher described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority {ACRA) Code of Professional
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the Directors’
Statement in pages 1 to 2.

Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

in connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
missiatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that
they are recerded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to
maintain accountability of assets.
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materiat if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

- QObtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are reguired to draw attention in our
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company
to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Ewvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying fransactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTELTD

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have
been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Arorik ke Lé-mxﬂ LiP

Erpst & Young LLP

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accouniants

Singapore
24 April 2025
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

- STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Note 2024 2023

$'000 $'000

Insurance revenue 15.1 227,890 208,981
Insurance service expense 4 {177,828) (168,193)
Insurance service result before reinsurance contracts held 50,062 40,788
Allocation of reinsurance premium 15.2 (14,111) (11,395}
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred claims 15.2 7,565 (23)
Net expense from reinsurance contracts held (6,546) {11,418}
Insurance service result 43,516 29,370
Dividend income - 4,625
Interest income 11,050 12,496
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 13 2,305 2,516
Loss on foreign exchange (198) (261)
Total investrment income 5 13,157 19,376
Finance expenses for insurance contracts issued 5 (2,815) (2,548)
Finance income for reinsurance contracts held 5 56 82
Net insurance financial resuit {2,759} (2,464}
Other {expense)fincome (10,592) 65,327
Profit before income tax 43,322 111,609
Income tax expense 8 (6,746) (18,174)
Comprehensive income for the year 36,576 93,435

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2024

Note 2024 2023
$000 $'000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 9 2,885 365
Intangible assets 10 2,975 2,814
Right-of-use assels 11 8,694 10,646
investment in subsidiary 12 24,558 24 K58
Investments in debt securities 13 212,923 215,841
Deferred tax assets 21 - 496
252,035 254,520
Current assets
Reinsurance contract assels 15 8,944 2,729
Due from related parties 16 2,313 1,925
Other assets 17 4 747 5,091
investments in debf securities i3 66,876 55,633
Short term investments 18 111,507 109,376
Cash and bank balances 19 31,853 46,405
224,240 221,059
Total assets 476,275 475,579
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities 15 180,945 187,603
Reinsurance contract liabilities 15 1,279 1,027
Lease liabilities 11 2,058 1,798
Due to related parties 16 618 787
Other liabilities 20 57,663 55,849
Provision for income tax & 19,019 17,504
261,582 264,568
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 11 6,795 8,853
Deferred tax liabilities 21 264 -
7.059 8,853
Total liahilities 268,641 273,421
NET ASSETS 207,634 202,158
EQUITY
Share capital 32,250 32,250
Revenue earnings 175,384 169,908
Total equity 207,634 202,158

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Share Retained Total
capital earnings equlity
$'000 $'000 $'000
2024
Balance at 1 January 32,250 169,908 202,158
Total comprehensive income - 36,576 36,576
Dividend paid* - {31,100) (31,100)
Balance at 31 December 32,250 175,384 207,634
2023
Balance at 1 January 32,250 170,173 202,423
Total comprehensive income - 093,435 93,435
Dividend paid* - {93.700) (83,700)
Balance at 31 December 32,250 169,908 202,158

*Final one-tier dividend paid

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has 32,250,000 ordinary shares (2023: 32,250,000). All
ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. In accordance with s.62A of the
Companies Act 1967, the ordinary shares of the Company have ne par value, The holder of ordinary
shares is entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Operating acfivities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for;
Depreciation of property and equipment
Net gain on disposal of property and equipment
Amaortisation of intangible asset
Write-off intangible assets work-in-progress
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Finance costs on lease liabilities
Change in fair value of investments
Dividend income
Interest income
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital

{Increase)/decrease in reinsurance contract assets
Decrease in insurance contract liabilities
Increasel{decrease) in reinsurance contract liabilities
Decrease/(increase) in debtors

Increase in creditors

{Increase)/decrease in related parties

Decrease/{increase) in fixed deposits held in trust for
policyholders

{Increase)/decrease in cash and bank balances held in trust
Cash flows generated from operations

Interest received
Income tax paid
Net cash flows generated from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property and eguipment
Additions to intangible assets

Purchase of investments in debt securities
Proceeds from sale/maturity of debt securities
{Increase)/decrease in short term investments
Repayment of loans

Net cash flows generated (used in)/from investing activities

Financing activities

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities
Interest paid on lease liabilities

Dividend received from a subsidiary

Dividend paid to immediate holding company
Net cash flows used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Note 2024 2023
$'000 $'000

43,322 111,609

9 784 319
- (75,203)

10 1,394 1,027
10 11 -
11 1,952 481
11 324 83
13 (2,305) (2,516}
5 - (4,625)
5 {11,050) (12,496)
34,432 18,684

(4,218) 812
(6,658} (3,342)
252 (98)
354 (1,036)

1,814 1,149

(557) 1,005
2,959 (6,021)

{451) 3,871

27,930 15,024

11,015 12,080
8 (4,471} {4,042)
34,474 23,062
g (3,304) {160}
- 92,398
10 {1,566) {(1,254)
13 (62,035) (126,208)
13 55,715 80,005
(6,142} 33,978

25 25

(17,307) 58,785

11 {1,798) -
11 (324) -
- 4,625
(31,100) (93,700)
(33,222) (89,075)
(16,055) (7.228)

44,821 52,049

19 28,766 44,821

The accompanying notes form an integrai part of the financial statements.
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.1

2.2

Corporate information

Liberty Insurance Pte Ltd (the Company) is incorporated and domiciled in Singapore. The
immediate holding company is Summit Asia Investments Holdings Pte. Ltd., a company
incorporated in Singapore. The ultimate holding company is Liberty Mutual Holding Company
Ine. (LMHC), a mutual insurance company organised under the laws of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts in the United States of America.

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at One
Raffles Quay, #25-01, North Tower, Singapore 048583.

The principal activities of the Company are underwriting & reinsurance of general insurance
business and investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiary are disclosed in
Note 12 to the financial statements.

Summary of material accounting policy information

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed
in the accounting policies below.

The financial stalements are presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or §) and all values in the
tables are rounded to the nearest thousands ($°000), except when otherwise indicated.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year
except that in the current financial year, the Company has adopted all the new and amended
standards which are relevant to the Company and are effective for annual financial periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024,

The following standards and interpretations are effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2024:

+ Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current

s Amendments to FRS 1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

« Amendments to FRS 116 Lease: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

« Amendments to FRS 7 and FRS107 Statement of Cash Flows and Financial Instruments
Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangemenis

The adoption of the above accounting standards did not have a significant impact to the
Company's financial statements in 2024.
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.3

24

25

Standards issued but not yet effective

The Company has not adopted the following standard and amendments applicable to the
Company that have been issued but not yet effective:

Effective for annual periods

Description beginning on or after
> Amendments to FRS 21 The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

» Amendments to FRS 109 and FRS 107: Amendmenis to
the Classification and Measurement of Financial

Instruments 1 January 2026
» Annual Improvements to FRSs — Volume 11 1 January 2026
¥ FRS 118 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Statements 1 January 2027

Except for the adoption of FRS 118 Presentafion and Disclosure in Financial Statements, the
Company expects that the adoption of the other standards above will have no material impact
on the financial statements in the period of initial application. The Company is still in the midst
of assessing the impact of FRS 118.

Basis of consolidation

The Company does not present consoclidated financial statements as it is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Summit Asia Invesiments Holdings Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in
Singapore and consolidated financial statements are presented under Liberty International
Holdings Inc. The registered office of Liberty International Holdings Inc is 175 Berkeley Street
Boston, MA 02116 United States of America.

Foreign currency

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also the Company's
functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the
Company and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange
rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical costin a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

Exchange differences arising con the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary
items at the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.6

2.7

Property and equipment

All items of property and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition,
property and equipment other than leasehold land are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets
as follows:

Leasehold building - 50 years
Computer hardware - 3 years
Office furniture and equipment - 5 years
Motor vehicles - 5 years
Renovation - 5 years

No depreciation is provided on leasehold land with more than 50 years to expiry of the lease.

Assets under work-in-progress included in property and equipment are not depreciated as
these assets are not available for use.

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-
end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on de-recognition of
the asset is included in the profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. Following initial
acquisition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each
financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting
estimates.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite
useful fife is reviewed annually to determine whether the usefut life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a
prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

- 12 .
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Computer sofiware and licenses

Computer software that does not form an integral part of the related computer hardware is
classified as an intangible asset. In determining whether an asset that incorporates both
tangible and intangible elements should be treated as Property and Equipment or Intangible
Asset, judgment is used to assess which element is more significant.

The useful lives of computer software and licenses are amortised using the straighi-line
method over their estimated useful lives of 3 years. Impairment is assessed whenever there is
indication of impairment and the amortisation period and method are also reviewed at each
reporting date.

Software under development is not amortised as this asset is not available for use, When the
asset is available for use, it is reclassified to the relevant category of intangible assets and
amortisation of the asset begins.

2.8 l.eases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That
is, if the confract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a peried of time
in exchange for consideration.

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

()  Right-of-use ("ROU"} asseis

The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease
(i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. The projected cost of dismantiement, removal or restoration is also
recognised as part of the cost of right-of-use assets if the obligation for the
dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of either acquiring
the asset or using the asset for purpose other than to produce inventories.

Righi-of-use assels are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease term and the esiimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Office space - 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term
or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using
the estimated useful life of the asset,

The right-of-use asseis are alse subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies
in Note 2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets.
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.8

(i) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities
measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments} less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lsase liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments
(e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to
determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

iy Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term
leases {i.e., those Jeases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement daie and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of
low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are
considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is
required, the Company makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount,

An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assels, Where the carrying amount of an assel or cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount,

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are previously
revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the
impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any
previous revaluation.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss
was recognised. I that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its
recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously, Such
reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in
which case the reversal is treated as a revalualion increase.
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LIBERTY INSURANCE PTELTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2,10

211

212

Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Company. The Company controls an
investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
invastee and has the ability to affect those returns through ifs power over the investee.

Investrment in subsidiary is accounted for at cost less impairment losses.

Insurance and reinsurance contracts definitions

The Company issues insurance contracts in the normal course of business, under which it
accepts significant insurance risk from its policyholders. As a general guideline, the Company
determines whether it has significant insurance risk, by comparing benefits payable after an
insured event with benefits payable if the insured event did not occur. Insurance contracis can
also transfer financial risk. The Company issues insurance o individuals and businesses. The
insurance products offered include motor, accident & health and property & casualty. These
products offer protection of policyholder's assets and indemnification of other parties that
have suffered damage as a result of a policyholder's accident.

The Company also issues reinsurance contracts in the normal course of business 1o
compensate other entities for claims arising from one or more insurance contracts issued by
those entities.

The Company does not issue any contracts with direct participating features.

Insurance and reinsurance contracts classification and measurement

Separating components from insurance and reinsurance coniracis

The Company assesses its insurance and reinsurance products to determine whether they
contain distinct components which must be accounted for under another FRS instead of
under FRS 117. After separating any distinct components, the Company applies FRS 117 to
all remaining components of the (host) insurance contract. Currently, the Company’s products
do not include any distinct components that require separation.

Certain of the Company’s reinsurance contracts held contain amounts that are paid and then
repaid in all scenarios but are setiled net with the reinsured party. These non-distinct
investments components are excluded from reinsurance income and expense and included in
the Asset for remaining coverage until the amount is settled.
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Level of agaregation

FRS 117 requires a company to determine the level of aggregation for applying its
requirements. The level of aggregation for the Company is determined firstly by dividing the
business written into portfolios. Portfolios comprise groups of contracts with similar risks
which are managed fogether. Portfolios are further divided based on expected profitability at
inception into three categories: onerous contracts, contracts with no significant risk of
becoming onerous, and the remainder. The Company has defined its portfolios of insurance
and reinsurance contracts based on product classes similar to its regulatory-related reporting
and issuance year. There are 12 classes of business in the Monetary Authority of Singapore
{MAS) Return as per Risk Based Capital (RBC) Framework. A working assumption has been
applied where each class of business is managed as a single pool and is exposed to similar
risk events except for Motor and General Accident business where the Company has further
segregate into lower level given that these businesses have different risk characteristics and
are priced and managed differently. FRS 117 also requires that no group for level of
aggregation purposes may contain contracts issued more than one year apart.

The Company has elected to group together those contracts that would fall into different
groups only because law or regulation specifically constrains its practical ability to set a
different price or level of benefits for policyholders with different characteristics.

The Company applied a modified retrospective approach for transition to FRS 117. The
portfolios are further divided by year of issue and profitability for recognition and
measurement purposes. Hence, within each year of issue, portfolios of contracts are divided
into three groups, as follows:

a) A group of contracts that are onerous at initial recognition (if any)

b) A group of contracts that, at initial recognition, have no significant possibility of
becoming onerous subsequently {if any)

¢) A group of the remaining contracts in the portfolio (if any)

The profitability of groups of contracts is assessed by actuarial valuation models that take into
consideration existing and new business. The Company assumes that no contracts in the
portfolio are onerous at initial recognition unless facts and circumstances indicate otherwise.
For contracts that are not onerous, the Company assesses, at initial recognition, that there is
no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently by assessing the likelihood of
changes in applicable facts and circumstances. The Company considers facts and
circumstances to identify whether a group of contracts are onerous based on:

. Pricing information
. Results of similar contracts it has recognised
. Environmental factors, e.g., a change in market experience or regulations

The Company divides portfolios of reinsurance contracts held applying the same principles
set out above, except that the references to onerous contracts refer to contracts on which
there is a net gain on initial recognition. For some groups of reinsurance contracts held, a
group can comprise a single contract.
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Recognition

The Company recognises groups of insurance contracts it issues from the earliest of the
following:

a)  The beginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts

b) The date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group is due or when the
first payment is received if there is no due date

G) For a group of cnerous contracts, if facls and circumstances indicate that the group is
onerous

The Company recognises a group of reinsurance contracts held it has entered into from the
earlier of the following:

a)  The beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held.
However, the Company delays the recognition of a group of reinsurance contracts held
that provide proportionate coverage until the date any underlying insurance contract is
initially recognised, if that date is later than the beginning of the coverage period of the
group of reinsurance contracts held; and

And

b) The date the Company recognises an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts
if the Company entered into the related reinsurance contract held in the group of
reinsurance contracts held at or before that date.

The Company adds new insurance and reinsurance contracts issued and reinsurance
contracts held, issued not more than 12 months apart to the relevant group in the reporting
period in which that contract meets one of the criteria set out above.

Contract boundary

The Company includes in the measurement of a group of insurance contracts all the future
cash flows within the boundary of each contract in the group. Cash flows are within the
boundary of an insurance contract if they arise from substantive rights and obligations that
exist during the reporting period in which the Company can compel the pelicyholder te pay the
premiums, or in which the Company has a substantive obligation to provide the policyholder
with insurance contract services. A subsiantive obligation to provide insurance contract
services ends when:

a})  The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular
policyholder and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects those
risks;

Or

b}  Both of the following criteria are satisfied:
+« The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio of
insurance contracts that contain the contract and, as a result, can set a price or
level of benefits that fully reflects the risk of that portfolic
+ The pricing of the premiums up to the date when the risks are reassessed does not
take into account the risks that relate to periods after the reassessment date

A liability or asset relating to expected premiums or claims ouiside the boundary of the
insurance contract is not recognised. Such amounts relate to future insurance contracts.
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Measurement - Premium Allocation Approach

FRS 117 Options

Adopted approach

Premium Allocation
Approach (PAA)
Eligibility

Subject {o specified criteria, the PAA
can be adopted as a simplified
approach to the FRS 117 general
model

The coverage period for property
insurance and liability reinsurance
assumed is cne year or less and so
qualifies automatically for PAA.

Both motor and properly & casualty
include coniracts with coverage
period greater than one year,

However, there is no maierial
difference in the measurement of the
liability for remaining coverage
between PAA and the

general model, therefore, these
qualify for PAA,

Insurance acquisition
cash flows for
insurance conlracts
issued

Where the coverage period of all
contracts within a group is not longer
than one year, insurance acquisiiion
cash flows ¢an either be expensed as
incurred, or allocated, using a
systematic and rationat method, to
groups of insurance contracts
{including future groups containing
insurance contracts that are expecled
to arise fram renewals) and then
amortised aver the coverage period of
the related group,

For groups containing contracts longer
than one year, insurance acquisition
cash flows must be allocated to
related groups of insurance contracts
and amorlised over the coverage
period of the related group.

With the exception of the commission
expenses, for which the Company
chooses to amortise over the
coverage period of the insurance and
reinsurance contracts, the Company
chooses to expense insurance
acquisition cash flows as they oceur.

Liability for remaining
Coverage (LFRG),
adjusted for financial
risk and time value of
money

Where there is no significant financing
component in relation to the LFRC, or
where the time between providing
each part of the services and the
refated premium due date is no more
than a year, an entity is not required {o
make an adjustment for accretion of
interest on the LFRC.

There is no aflowance as the
premiums are received within one
year of the coverage period.

Liability for Incurred
Claims, {LFIC)
adjusted for time
valug of money

Where claims are expected to be paid
within a year of the date that the claim
is incurred, it is not required to adjust
{hese amounts for the time value of
money.

LFIC is adjusted for the time value of
money.

Insurance finance
income and expense

There is an option to disaggregate
part of the movement in LFIC resulting
from changes in discount rates and
present this in OCI.

The change in LFIC as a result of
changes in discount raies will be
captured within profit or loss.
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(i)

Insurance and reinsurance contracts — initial measurement

The Company applies the premium allocation approach (PAA) to all the insurance and
reinsurance contracts that it issues and reinsurance contracts that it holds where the
coverage period of the contract in the group is one year or less.

For contracts longer than one year, the Company has modelled possible future
scenarios and reasonably expects that the measurement of the liability for remaining
coverage for the group containing those contracts under the PAA does not differ
materially from the measurement that would be produced applying the general model.
In assessing materiality, the Company has also considered qualitative factors such as
the nature of the risk and types of its lines of business.

For a group of contracts that is not onerous at initial recognition, the Company
measures the liability for remaining coverage as:

. The premiums, if any, received at initial recognition

. Minus any insurance acquisition cash flows at that date, with the exception of
contracts which are one year or less where this is expensed,

. Plus or minus any amount arising from the derecognition at that date of the asset
recognised for insurance acquisition cash flows and

. Any other asset or liability previously recognised for cash flows related to the
group of contracts that the Company pays or receives before the group of
insurance centracts is recognised,

Where facts and circumstances indicate that contracts are onerous at initial recognition,
the Company performs additional analysis to determine if a net outflow is expected from
the contract. Such onerous contracts are separately grouped from other contracts and
the Company recognises a loss in profit or loss for the net outflow, resulting in the
carrying amount of the liability for the group being equal to the fulfilment cash flows. A
loss component is established by the Company for the liabilify for remaining coverage
for such onerous group depicting the losses recognised.

Reinsurance contracts held — initial measurement

The Company measures its reinsurance assels for a group of reinsurance contracts
that it holds on the same basis as insurance contracts that it issues, using the PAA,
However, the measurement is adapted to reflect the features of reinsurance contracts
held that differ from insurance contracts issued, for example the generation of
expenses or reduction in expenses rather than revenue,

The Company measures the estimates of the present value of future cash clows using
assumptions that are consisted with those used to measure the liability for remaining
coverage of the underlying insurance coniracts, with an adjustment for non-
perfermance by the reinsurer.

Where the Company recognises a loss on initial recognition of an onerous group of
underlying insurance contracts or when further onerous underlying insurance contracts
are added to a group, the Company establishes a loss-recovery component of the asset
for remaining coverage for a group of reinsurance contracts held depicting the recovery
of losses.
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(iil)

For groups of reinsurance cordracts covering onerous underlying insurance contracts
that were entered into before or the same time as the onerous underlying contracts, the
Company calculates the loss-recovery component by multiplying the loss recognised on
the underlying insurance contracts and the percentage of claims on the underlying
insurance contracts the Company expects to recover from the group of reinsurance
contracts held. The Company uses a systematic and rational method to determine the
portion of losses recognised on the group to insurance contracts covered by the group
of reinsurance contracts held where some contracts in the underlying group are not
covered by the group of reinsurance contracts held.

The loss-recovery component adjusls the carrying amount of the asset for remaining
coverage.

Insurance and reinsurance contracts — subsequent measurement

The Company measures the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage at
the end of each reporting period as the liability for remaining coverage at the beginning
of the period:

. Plus premiums received in the period

. Minus insurance acquisition cash flows, with the exception of property insurance
product line for which the Company chooses to expense insurance acquisition
cash flows as they occur

. Plus any amounts relating to the amortisation of the insurance acquisition cash
flows recognised as an expense in the reporting period for the group

. Plus any adjustment to the financing compenent, where applicable

. Minus the amount recognised as insurance revenue for the services provided in
the period

. Minus any investment component paid or transferred to the liability for incurred
claims

The Company estimates the liability for incurred claims as the fulfiment cash flows
related to incurred claims. The fulfiment cash flows incorporate, in an unbiased way, all
reasonable and supportable information available without undue cost or effort about the
amount, timing and uncertainty of those future cash flows, they reflect current estimates
from the perspective of the Company and include an explicit adjustment for non-
financial risk (the risk adjustment). The Company does not adjust the future cash flows
for the time value of money and the effect of financial risk for the measurement of
liability for incurred claims that are expected to be paid within one year of being
incurred,

Where, during the coverage period, facts and circumstances indicate that a group of
insurance contracts is onerous, the Company recognises a loss in profit or loss for the
net outflow, resulting in the carrying amount of the liability for the group being equal to
the fulfilment cash flows. A loss component is established by the Company for the
liability for remaining coverage for such onerous group depicting the losses recognised.
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(iv}

{vi}

Reinsurance contracts held - subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of reinsurance coniracts held follows the same
principles as those for insurance contracts issued and has been adapted {o reflect the
specific features of reinsurance held.

Where the Company has established a loss-recovery component, the Company
subsequently reduces the loss recovery component to zero in line with reductions in the
onerous group of underlying insurance contracts in order to refiect that the loss-
recovery component shall not exceed the portion of the carrying amount of the loss
companent of the onerous group of underlying insurance contracts that the entity
expects to recover from the group of reinsurance contracts held.

Insurance acquisition cash flows

Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the costs of selling, underwriting and
starting a group of insurance contracts (issued or expected to be issued) that are
directly atfributable to the portfolic of insurance contracts fo which the group belongs.

Where the coverage period of contracts in the group is less than one year, the
Company is permitied to choose to recognise insurance acquisition cash flows as
expense when incurred.

The Company uses a systemalic and rational method to allocate:

a) Insurance acquisition cash flows that are directly attributable to a group of
insurance contracts:
+ tothat group; and
« to groups that include insurance contracts that are expected to arise from the
renewals of the insurance contracts in that group.

b)  Insurance acquisition cash flows directly attributable to a portfolio of insurance
contracts that are not directly attributable to a group of contracts, 1o groups in the
portfolio.

With the exception of the commission expenses, for which the Company chooses to
amortise over the coverage period of the insurance and reinsurance contracts, the
Company chooses {o expense insurance acquisition cash flows as they occur.

Insurance contracts — modification and derecognition
The Company derecognises insurance confracts when:

a) The rights and obligations relating to the contract are extinguished (i.e.,
discharged, cancelled or expired).

Or

b}  The contract is modified such that the modification results in a change in the
measurement model or the applicable standard for measuring a component of the
contract, substantially changes the contract boundary, or requires the modified
contract to be included in a different group. In such cases, the Company
derecognises the initial confract and recognises the modified contract as a new
contract.
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When a modification is not treated as a derecognition, the Company recognises
amounts paid or received for the modification with the contract as an adjustment to the
relevant liability for remaining coverage.

Presentation

The Company has presented separately, in the Balance Sheet, the carrying amount of
portfolios of insurance and reinsurance contracts issued that are assets, portfolios of
insurance and reinsurance contracts issued that are liabilities, portfolios of reinsurance
contracts held that are assets and portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are abilities.

The Company disaggregates the total amount recognised in the Income Statement into an
insurance service result, comprising insurance revenue and insurance service expense, and
insurance finance income or expenses, The Company does not disaggregate the change in
risk adjustment for non-financial risk between a financial and non-financial portion and
includes the entire change as part of the insurance service result.

The Company separately presents income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held from
the expenses or income from insurance contracts issued.

0] Insurance revenue

The insurance revenue for the period is the amount of expected premium receipts
(excluding any investment component) allocated to the period. The Cormpany zallocates
the expected premium receipts to each period of insurance contract services on the
basis of the passage of time. But if the expected pattern of release of risk during the
coverage period differs significantly from the passage of time, then the allocation is
made on the basis of the expected timing of incurred insurance service expenses.

The Company changes the basis of allocation between the two methods above as
necessary, if facts and circumstances change. The change is accounted for
prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Far the periods presented, all revenue has been recognised on the basis of the
passage of time.

(i} Loss components

The Company assumes that no contracts are enerous at initial recognition unless facts
and circumstances indicate otherwise. Where ihis is not the case, and if at any time
during the coverage period, the facts and circumstances indicate that a group of
insurance contracis is onerous, the Company establishes a loss component as the
excess of the fulfiiment cash flows that relate to the remaining coverage of the group
over the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage of the group.
Accordingly, by the end of the coverage period of the group of contracts the loss
component will be zero.
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(i)

{iv)

v)

Loss-recovery components

When the Company recognises a loss on initial recognition of an onerous group of
underlying insurance contracts, or when further onerous underlying insurance contracts
are added fo a group, the Company establishes a loss-recovery compenent of the asset
for remaining coverage for a group of reinsurance contracts held depicting the expected
recovery of the losses.

A loss-recovery componeni is subsequently reduced to zero in line with reductions in
the onerous group of underlying insurance contracts in order o reflect that the loss-
recovery component shall not exceed the portion of the carrying amount of the loss
component of the onerous group of underlying insurance contracis that the entity
expects to recover from the group of reinsurance contracts held.

Insurance finance income and expense

Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount of
the group of insurance contracts arising from:

. The effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money;
and
. The effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk.

The Company disaggregates insurance finance income or expenses on insurance
contracts issued for its personal accident product line between profit or loss and QCI.
The Company does not disaggregate finance income and expenses because the
related financial assets are managed on a fair value basis and measured at FVPL.

Net income or expense from reinsurance contracts held

The Company presents separately on the face of the Income Statement, the amounts
expected to be recovered from reinsurers, and an allocation of the reinsurance
premiums paid. The Company treats reinsurance cash flows that are contingent on
claims on the underlying contracts as part of the claims that are expected {o be
reimbursed under the reinsurance contract held and excludes investment components
and commissions from an allocation of reinsurance premiums presented on the face of
the Income Statement.

Financial assets

Initial recegnition

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual
terms and the business model for managing the instruments, as described below.

Financial instruments are initially recognised on the trade date measured at their fair. Except
for financial assets and financial liakilities recorded at FVPL, transaction costs are added to
this amount.
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Measurement categories

The Company classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing
the assets and the asset's coniraciual terms. The categories include the following:

a)
b)

(i)

Amortised cost
FVPL

Debt instruments measured at amortised cost
Debt instruments are held at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

a)  The instruments are held within a business model with the objective of holding
the instrument to collect the contractual cash flows

b}  The contractual terms of the debt instrument give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal
amount outstanding

The details of these conditions are outlined below.

Business model assessment

The Company determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it
manages groups of financial assets to achieve its business objective.

The Company holds financial assets to generate returns and provide a capital base to
provide for settlement of claims as they arise. The Company considers the timing,
armount and volatility of cash flow requirements to support insurance liability portfolios in
determining the business model for the assets as well as the potential to maximise
return for shareholders and future business development.

The Company's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but at a higher level of aggregated porifolios that is based on observable factors such
as.

. How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within
that business model are evaluated and reported to the Company's key
management personnel

. The risks that affect the performance of the business madel (and the financial
assets held within that business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are
managed

. How managers of the business are compensated {for example, whether the
compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or on the
contractual cash flows collected)

) The expected frequency, value and timing of asset sales are also important
aspects of the Company’s assessment
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The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without
taking 'worst case’ or 'stress case’ scenarios into account, If cash flows after initial
recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Company's original
expectations, the Company does not change the classification of the remaining financial
assets held in that business model but incorporates such information when assessing
newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward.

The SPPi test

As a second step of its classification process the Company assesses the contractual
terms to identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at
initial recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset {for example, if
there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the premium/discount),

The most significant elements of interest within a debt arrangement are typically the
consideration for the time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI
assessment, the Company applies judgement and considers relevant factors such as
the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the
interest rate is set.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Financiaf assets in this category are those that are managed in a fair value business
model, or that have been designated by management upon initial recognition, or are
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value under FRS 109, This category
includes debt instruments whose cash flow characteristics fail the SPPI criterion or are
not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash
flows, or both to collect contractual cash flows and sell.

Subsequent measurement

{®

{ii)

Debt instruments at amortised cost

After initial measurement, debt instruments are measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate (EIR) method, less allowance for impairment, Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fee or
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. ECLs are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss when the investments are impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair
value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit or loss. Interest earned on assets
mandatorily required to be measured at FVPL is recorded using contractual interest
rate. Dividend income from equity instruments measured at FVPL is recorded in profit
or loss as other operating income when the right to the payment has been established.

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

The Company does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition,
apart from the exceptional circumstances in which the Company acquires, disposes of, or
terminates a business line.
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Derecognition

(i)

(i)

Derecognition other than for substantial modification

A financial asset (or, where applicabie, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of
similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

a) The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired
Or

by  The Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a 'pass-through’ arrangement; and either: (a) the
Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
{b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset

The Company considers control to be iransferred if and only if, the {ransferee has the
practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to
exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing additional restrictions on the
transfer.

When the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks
and rewards and has retained control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognised
only to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement, in which case, the
Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guaraniee over the transferred asset is
measured at the tower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration the Company could be required to pay.

Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the terms and conditions have been
renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new instrument, with the
difference recognised as a derecognition gain or loss. In the case of debt instruments at
amortised cost, the newly recognised loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL
measurement purposes,

When assessing whether or not to derecognise an instrument, amongst others, the
Company considers the following factors:

Change in currency of the debt instrument

Introduction of an equity feature

Change in counterparty

If the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPI
criterion

. & » B

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the
moadification does not resull in derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows
discounted at the original EIR, the Company records a modification gain or loss.
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Financial labilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial lfabilities at FVTPL or as
financial liabilities at amortised cost. The Company has not classified any financial liabilities at
FVTPL.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Company's financial liabilities include amounts due to related parties, and other creditors
and accruals,

Subseqguent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified as financial
liabilities at amortised cost.,

After initial recognition, interest-bearing leans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cosf using the EIR method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amertisation is included as finance cosis in the
income Statement.

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assetis and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount is presented in the
balance sheets, when and only when, there is a currently enforceable legal right to set off the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to seifle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and setlle the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand depaosits, and short-
term, highly liquid investments thal are readily convertible to known amount of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, with maturities of 3 months or
less from date of acquisition.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Cornpany has a present obligation {legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate. If it is no longer probable thal an outflow of economic resources will be
reguired to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of
money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate ihat reflects, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the
pravision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
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2.18

2.19

Employee benefits

{3

(ii}

Defined contribution plan

The Company make contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore,
a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined confribution pension
scheme are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is
performed.

Employees' leave entitliement

Employees' entitlements fo annual leave are recognised as a lability when they are
accrued to the employees. The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the reporting period is recognised for
services renderad by employees up io the end of the reporting period.

Income taxes

@

(it}

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured
at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid io the taxation authorities, The tax
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, in the countries where the
Comgpany operales and generates taxable income.

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax
relates to items recognised ocutside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end
of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

- Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is noi a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects nether the accounting profit nor taxable profit ot loss; and

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiary, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future,
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable
{hat taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised
except:

- Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the {ransaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, deferred fax assetls are recognised only to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred {ax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period
and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that fuiure taxable profit
wilt allow the deferred tax assetl to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax refating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying
fransacftion either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right
exists to set off current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the
deferred taxes relate to the same taxabie entity and the same laxation authority.

On 20 December 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
(OECD} published Pillar Two Global Anti-Base Erosion model rules as part of its efforts
toward international tax reform. The Pillar Twe model rules provide for the implementation of
a 15% global minimum tax for large multinational enterprises, which is to be applied on a
jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis. Singapore has enacted the CECD Pillar Two rules, including
the Domestic Top-Up Tax, at the end of the reporting period, with effect from 1 January 2025.
The Pillar Two GloBE moedel rules are expected to apply to the Censtituent Entities of the
Group located in Singapore from 1 January 2025.

FRS 12 has been amended to introduce a mandatory temporary exception to recognising and
disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities that are related to tax law
enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two GloBE model rules published by
the OECD. The Company applied the temporary exception at 31 December 2024.

LMHC has performed an assessment of its potential exposure to Pillar Two taxes in
Singapore and expects that the Pillar 2 effective tax rate for constituent entities in Singapore
to be above 15%. On this basis, the Company is not expected to have current Pillar 2 tax
expense or liability,

The Group will continue to follow Pillar Two legislative developments to evaluate the potential
future impact on its operations, financial position and cash fiows.

- 29 -
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2,20

3.1

Related parties
A related party is defined as ioliows:

{iy A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Company if that
person:

(a) Has control or joint control over the Company;,
(b) Has significant influence aver the Company; or

{c) Is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or of a parent of
the Company.

(i) An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

{8) The entity and the Company are members of the same group {which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is refated to the others);

{b) One entity is an assoctate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

{c}  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity;

(e} The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefits of employees of
either the Company or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself
of such a plan, the sponsoring employers are aiso related to the Company,

() The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person idenified in (i);

(g} A person identified in (i){(a) has significant influence over the entity or is member
of the key management personnel of the entity {or of a parent of the entity).

Significant accounting judgement and estimates

The key assumptions cenceming the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. The
Company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial
statements were prepared. Existing circurmstances and assumptions about future
developments, however, may change due o market changes or circumstances arising that
are beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when
they occeur.

Insurance and reinsurance contracts

The Company applies the PAA to simplify the measurement of insurance contracts. When
measuring liabilities for remaining coverage, the PAA is broadly similar to the Company’s
previous accounting treaiment under FRS 104. However, when measuring liabilities for
incurred claims, the Company now discounts cash flows that are expected to occur more than
one year after the date on which the claims are incurred and includes an explicit risk
adjustment for non-financial risk.
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Liability for remaining coverage

(] Insurance acquisition cash flows

The Company applies judgement in determining the inputs used in the methodology to
systematically and rationally allocate insurance acquisition cash flows to groups of
insurance contracts. This includes judgements about the amounts allocated to
insurance contracts expested to arise from renewals of existing insurance contracts in a
group and the volume of expected renewals from new contracts issued in the period.

At the end of each reporting period, the Company revisits the assumptions made to
allocale insurance acquisition cash flows to groups and where necessary revises the
amounts of assets for insurance acquisition cash flows accordingly.

The effect of electing fo recognise insurance acquisition cash flows as an expense
when incurred for a group of insurance contracts is to increase the liability for remaining
coverage and reduce the likelihood of any subsequent onerous contract loss. There
would be an increased charge {0 profit or loss on incurring the expense, offset by an
increase in profit released over the coverage period.

(il  Onerous groups
For groups of contracts that are onercus, the lability for remaining coverage is
determined by the fulfiiment cash flows. Any loss-recovery component is determined
with reference to the loss component recognised on underlying contracts and the
recovery expected on such claims from reinsurance contracis held.

Liahility for incurred claims

The ultimate cost of cutstanding claims is estimated by using a range of standard actuarial
claims projection techniques, such as Chain Ladder and Bornheuliter-Ferguson methods.

The main assumption underlying these techniques is that a Company's past claims
development experience can be used to project future claims development and hence
ultimate claims costs. These methods extrapolate the development of paid and incurred
losses, average costs per claim (including claims handling costs), and claim numbers based
on the observed development of earlier years and expected loss ratios, Historical claims
development is mainly analysed by accident years, but can also be further analysed by
gecgraphical area, as well as by significant business lines and claim types. Large claims are
usually separately addressed, either by being reserved at the face value of loss adjuster
estimates or separately projected in order to reflect their future development. in most cases,
no explicit assumptions are made regarding future rates of claims inflation or loss ratios.
Instead, the assumptions used are those implicit in the historical claims development data on
which the projections are based. Additional qualitative judgement is used to assess the exient
to which past trends may not apply in future, (e.g., to reflect one-off oceurrences, changes in
external or rmarket factors such as public attitudes to claiming, economic conditions, levels of
claims inflation, judicial decisions and legislation, as well as internal factors such as portfolio
mix, policy features and claims handling procedures) in order to arrive at the estimated
ultimate cost of claims that present the probability weighted expected value ocutcome from the
range of possible outcomes, taking account of all the uncertainties invoived.
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The Company has the right to pursue third parties for payment of some or all costs. Estimates
of salvage recoveries and subrogation reimbursements are considered as an allowance in the
measurement of ultimate claims costs.

Other key circumstances affecting the reliability of assumptions include variation in interest
rates, delays in seitlement and changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Discount rates

The liability for incurred claims is calculated by discounting expected future cash flows at a
risk-free rate, plus an illiquidity premium where applicable. Risk free rates are delermined by
reference to the yields of highly liquid AAA-rated sovereign securities in the currency of the
insurance contract liabilities. The illiquidity premium is determined by reference to observable
market rates.

Discount rates applied for discounting of future cash flows are listed below:

1 year 3 years 5 years 10 years
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Insurance contract

liabilities 2.86% 3.65% 2.77% 2.90% 2.83% 268% 288% 2.70%
Reinsurance contract
liabilities 2.86% 3.65% 2.77% 2.90% 2.83% 2.68% 2.88% 2.70%

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk

The risk adjustment for non-financial rigk is the compensation that the Company requires for
bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows of groups of insurance
contracts. The risk adjustment reflects an amount that an insurer would rationally pay to
remove the uncertainty that future cash flows will exceed the expected value amount.

The Company has estimated the risk adjustment using a confidence level (probability of
sufficiency) approach at the 75th percentile. That is, the Company has assessed its
indifference to uncertainty for ail product lines (as an indication of the compensation that it
requires for bearing non-financial risk) as being equivalent to the 75th percentile confidence
level less the mean of an estimated probability distribution of the future cash flows. The
Company has estimated the probability distribution of the future cash flows, and the additional
amount. above the expected present value of future cash flows required to meet the target
percentiles.
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3.2

3.3

Financial assefs

Impairment losses on financial assets

The measurement of impairment losses under FRS 109 across relevant financial assets
requires judgement, in particular, for the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash
flows when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in
credit risk. These estimates are driven by the outcome of modelled ECL scenarios and the
relevant inputs used.

Leases

Leases — Estimating incremental borrowing rate

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the leases, therefore, it
uses its incremental borrowing rate ("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Branch ‘would have {o
pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to
be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Company estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as risk-free interest rates) when available and make certain
entity-specific estimates (such as corporate credit spread, and cross-currency country
spread).

Leases - Term of contracts with renewal and fermination options

The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together
with any periods covered by an opticn to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain {o be
exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably
certain not to be exercised,

The Company has the oplion, under some of iis leases to lease the asseis for additional
terms of two years, The Company applies judgment in evaluating whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers relevant factors that create an
economic incentive for it {o exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the Branch
reassess the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within
its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., a
change in business strategy).
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4, Insurance service expense _
2024 2023
Accident Property
Motor & heaith & casualty Total Total
Note $000 $'000 £000 $000 $'000
Incurred claims and other expenses 15.1, a 50,272 45,871 36,311 132,454 128,797f
Amartisation of insurance acquisition cash flows 15.1 14,147 19,906 14,606 48,659 46,209
Losses on onerous contracts and reversals of those losses 15.1 - - {2,463} (2,463} 345
Changes to liabilities for incurred claims 15.1 (6,079) {3,149} (5,707) {14,935) (19,241)
Insurance acquisition cash flows recognised when incurred a 6,043 2,569 5,501 14,113 12,083
Total 64,383 65,197 48,248 177,828 168,193
Notes:

a. The nature and amount of material expense included is disclosed in Note 6.
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5. Total investment income and net insurance financial result

The table below presents an analysis of total investment income and insurance finance result

recognised in profit or loss in the period:

Investment income

Dividend income

Interest income

Change in fair value of financial asseis at FVTPL
Loss on foreign exchange

Finance (expense)/income from insurance contract issued
Interest accreted o insurance contracts using locked-in rate
Change in interest rates and other financial assumptions

Finance income/(expenses) from reinsurance contract held
Interest accreted to insurance contracts using locked-in rate
Change in interest rates and other financial assumptions

Total investment income and net insurance financial
results recognised in profit or loss

6. Other income and expense

The following items have been included in arriving at other income and expenses:

Note
Auditor's remuneration
Depreciation of property and equipment 9
Amortisation of intangible asset 10
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Staff costs expense 7

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had 228 (2023: 2368) employees. Included in

2024 2023
$000 $000
- 4,625
11,050 12,496
2,305 2,516
(198) {261)
13,157 19,376
(2,951) (2,857)
136 311
(2.815) (2.546)
59 92

(3) {10)

56 82
10,398 16,912
2024 2023
$°000 $000
260 376
784 319
1,394 1,027
. (74.474)
32,487 25,886

management expenses an amount of $6,631,000 (2023: $5,676,000) which was allocated

and presented as part of the insurance service expense.

Included in the gain on disposal of property and equipment in 2023 is profit on sale of

leasehold land and building amounted to $74,506,000.
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7. Staff costs expense

2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Staff costs expense {including directors):
Salaries and bonuses 28,257 21,563
Central Provident Fund contributions 2,970 2,446
Other staff cosis 1,260 1,877
32,487 25,886

8. Income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense for the year ended 31 December:

Note 2024 2023
5000 $'000

Current tax
- Current income tax 6,715 17,475
- Qverprovision in respect of prior years (729) -
5,986 17,475
Deferred tax 2t 760 699
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 6,746 18,174
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Reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the Company's effective tax rate applicable to profit

before taxation for the financial year ended 31 December:

Profit before income tax

Tax at statutary rate of 17% (2023: 17%)
Adjustments:
Income not subject to tax
Non-deductible expenses
Effect of partial tax exemption

Effect of income at concessionary tax rate

Overprovision of tax in prior years
Others

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss

Movement in provision for income tax:

Balance at 1 January
Current year lax expense
Tax paid during the year
Balance at 31 December

37

2024 2023
$'000 $'000
43,322 111,609
7,365 18,974
- (786)
221 396
(17) (17)
(352} (306)
(729) -
258 (87)
6.746 18,174
2024 2023
$'000 $'000
17,504 4,071
5,986 17 475
(4,471) (4,042)
19,019 17,504
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9. Property and equipment

Note

2024

Cost

Balance at 1 January

Additions

Disposal

Reclass to Computer software 10
Balance at 31 December

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 January

Depreciation charge 6
Disposal

Reclass to Computer software 10
Balance at 31 December

Net book value
Balance at 31 December

Office
furniture
Leasehold Leasehold Computer and Motor
land building hardware equipment vehicles  Renovation Total
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
- - 1,265 22 384 - 1,671
- - 150 1,088 - 2,066 3,304
- - (286) - - - (286)
- - (19) (13) - - (32)
- - 1,110 1,097 384 2,066 4,657
- - 1,056 12 238 - 1,306
- - 121 219 32 412 784
- - {286) - - - (286)
- . (25) ) - - (32)
- - 866 224 270 412 1,772
- - 244 873 114 1,654

2,885



Docusign Envelope 1D: F1B4BFAT-E96C-4976-A3CF-210F0052BADSE

LIBERTY INSURANCE PTE LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 Decemnber 2024

Office
furniture
Leasehold Leasehold Computer and Motor
Note tand building hardware equipment vehicles  Renovation Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 3000 $000 $'000
2023
Cost
Balance at 1 January 10,341 10,217 5,673 2,257 590 428 29,506
Additions - - 154 6 - - 160
Disposal (10,341) (10,217) (4,562) (2,241) (206) (428) (27,995)
Balance at 31 December - - 1,265 22 384 - 1,671
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January - 3,772 5,549 2,118 224 123 11,786
Depreciation charge 6 - 83 64 54 75 43 319
Disposal - (3,855) (4,557 {2,160) (81) (166) (10,799)
Balance at 31 December - - 1,056 12 238 - 1,306
Net book value
Balance at 31 December - - 209 10 146 - 365

During the year, the Company has reclassified Computer hardware amounting to $19,000 and Office furniture and equipment amounting to $13,000
to Computer software under intangible assets (Note 10).

The leasehold land and building previously located at 51 Club Street, Liberty House, Singapore was sold on 30 June 2023 at a profit of $74,506,000.
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10.

11.

Intangible assets

Note 2024 2023
$'000 $000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 10,881 17,592
Additions 1,566 1,254
Disposal (11) (7,965)
Reclass from property and equipment 2| 32 -
Balance at 31 December 12,468 10,881
Accumulated amortisation
Balance at 1 January 8,067 15,005
Amortisation charge 6 1,394 1,027
Disposal - (7,965)
Reclass from properly and equipment 9 32 -
Balance at 31 December 9,493 8.067
Net book value
Balance at 31 December 2,975 2,814

During the year, the Company has written-off work-in-progress for computer software
amounting to $11,000,

Intangible assets consist of computer software and are amortised over a period of 3 years on
a straight-line basis. Included in intangible assets is work-in-progress for compufter software of
$477,000 (2023: $1,662,000).

Leases
The Company has lease contracts for office space used in its operations. Leases of office
space generally have lease terms of 5§ years. The Company's obligations under its leases are

secured by the lessor’s title {o the leased assets.

The Company also has leases of office equipment with low value, The Company applies the
‘ease of low-value assets’ recognition exemptions for these leases.

Set out helow are the carrying amounts of righi-of-use assets recognised and the movements
during the period:

2024 2023
$'000 $'000
QOffice space
Balance at 1 January 10,646 -
Additions - 11,127
Depreciation expense {1,952} (481)
Balance at 31 December 8,694 10,646
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Undiscounted lease liabilities:

2024 2023
$'000 $000
Less than 1 year 2,315 2,122
2io 5 years 7,138 9,262
More than 5 years - 193
9,454 11,577

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities recognised and the movements
during the period:

2024 2023
$'oo0 $000
Office space
Balance at 1 January 10,651 -
Additions - 10,563
Accretion of interest 324 88
Payments {2,122) -
Balance at 31 December 8,853 10,651
Current portion - matures within the next 12 months 2,058 1,798
Non-current portion — matures after the next 12 months 6,795 8,853
8,853 10,651
The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss;
2024 2023
$000 $'000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,952 481
Interest expense on lease liabilities 324 88
Expense relating to short-term lease (included in other
operating expenses} 116 693
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 2,392 1,262
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12.

13.

Investment in subsidiary

2024 2023
$'000 $000
Unguoted equity shares, at cost 24,568 24,568
The details of the subsidiary company are as follows:
Principal
place of Percentage
Name business Principal activities of equity held
2024 2023
% %o
Liberty International Life and general
Insurance Limited” Hong Kong insurance business 68 68
*Audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong
Investments in debt securities
2024 2023
$'000 $'000
Quoted investments, at fair value
Government securities 278,728 268,837
Corporate bonds 1.071 2,637
Total investments 279,799 271,174
Current portion - matures within the next 12 months 66,876 55,533
Non-current portion - matures after the next 12 months 212,923 215,641
279,799 271,174
The carrying value are determined as follows:
Note 2024 2023
$'000 $'000
Balance at 1 January 271,174 202,455
Additions 62,035 126,208
Maturities, redemptions and disposals (55,715) (60,005}
Change in fair value gain recognised at FVTPL 5 2,305 2,516
Balance at 31 December 279,789 271,174

The weighted average effective interest rate as at 31 December 2024 for the Company was

2.80% (2023: 3.21%). The maturity of these invesiments is disclosed in Note 26(i).
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14, Loans
Note 2024 2023
$'000 $'000
Staff loan, secured 28(b} - 25
Quistclose loan, unsecured - 5
- 30
Current portion — due within the next 12 months 17 - 30
Non-current portion — due after the next 12 months - -
- 30

Staff loan represent outstanding balances of car loan to an employee under an approved car
benefit scheme of the Company which are secured against the car owned by the staff. The
loan is non-interest bearing and has been fully repaid by end of the financial year 31
December 2024.

Quistclose loan represents outstanding batance of loan to an agent where the bhorrower is
subjected to a specific obligation fo the use of money for a specific purpose. The loan is non-
interest bearing and has been fully repaid by end of the financial year 31 December 2024.

The fair value of these loans is estimaled using the discounted cash flows method, based on
current market lending rates for similar types of loan arrangements. At the end of the
reporting period, the carrying amounts of staff loans approximate their fair values.
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15, Insurance and reinsurance contracts

The breakdown of groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts issued, and reinsurance
contracts held, that are in an asset position and those in a liability position is set out in the

table below:

2024

Insurance contracts issued
Motor insurance

Accident & healih insurance
Properiy & casualty insurance
Total insurance contracts issued

Reinsurance contracts held
Motor insurance

Accident & health insurance
Property & casualty insurance
Total reinsurance contracts heid

2023

Insurance contracts issued
Motor insurance

Accident & health insurance
Property & casuslty insurance
Total insurance contracts issued

Reinsurance contracts held
Motor insurance

Accident & health insurance
Property & casualty insurance
Total reinsurance contracts held

44

Assets Liabilities Net

$'000 $000 %000

- 67,099 67,099

- 32,360 32,360

- 81,486 81,486

- 180,945 180,945
(801) 441 (360)
(1,411) 46 (1,365)
(4,732) 792 (3,940)
(6,944) 1,279 {5,665)

- 65,768 65,768

- 30,664 30,664

- 91,171 91,171

- 187,603 187,603
(723) 189 (534)

(1) 303 302
{2,005) 535 (1,470)
(2,729) 1,027 {1,702}
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151 Roll-forward of insurance contract assets/liabilities

The roll-forward of the net asset or liability of for insurance and reinsurance contracts issued, showing the liability for remaining coverage and the
liability for incurred claims, is disclosed in the table below:

Liabilities for remaining

coverage Liabilities for incurred claims
Estimates of
Excluding the present
foss Loss value of future Risk
2024 Note component  component cash flows adjustment Total
Insurance contract assets at 1 January - - “ “ -
Insurance contract liabilities at 1 January 96,355 7,725 75,274 8,249 187,603
Net insurance contract liabilities at 1 January 96,355 7,725 75,274 8,249 187,603
Insurance revenue (227,890) - - - (227,890}
Insurance service expenses
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows 4 48,659 - - - 48,659
Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of those losses 4 - (2,463) - - (2,463)
Incurred claims and other expenses 4 - - 127,795 4,659 132,454
Changes to liabilities for incurred claims 4 - - {92,578) (5,357} {14,935)
48,659 (2,463) 118,217 (698) 163,715
Insurance service result
Insurance finance expenses 5 - - 2,528 287 2,815
Total changes in the statement of comprehensive income (179,231) (2,463) 120,745 {411) {61,360}
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Cash flows

Premiums received

Insurance acquisition cash flows

Claims and other expenses paid

Total cash flows

Net insurance contract liabilities at 31 December

insurance contract assets at 31 December
Insurance contract liabilities at 31 December
Net insurance contract liabilities at 31 December

Liabilities for remaining

coverage Liabilities for incurred claims
Estimates of
Excluding the present
loss Loss value of future Risk :
Note component  component cash flows  adjustment Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
225,480 - - 225,480
{49,322) - - (49,322)
- - (121,456) - {121,4586)
176,158 - (121,456) - 54,702
15 93,282 5,262 74,563 7,838 180,945
93,282 5,262 74,563 7,838 180,945
15 93,282 5,262 74,563 7,838

180,945
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Liabilities for remaining

coverage Liabilities for incurred claims
Estimates of
Excluding the present
loss Loss value of future Risk
2023 Note _ component  component cash flows adjustment Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $000
tnsurance contract assets at 1 January - - - - -
insurance contract liabilities at 1 January 98,094 7,380 76,615 8,856 190,945
Net insurance contract liabilities at 1 January 98,094 7,380 76,615 8,856 190,945
Insurance revenue (208,981) - - - {208,981)
Insurance service expenses
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows 4 46,209 - - - 46,209
L.osses on onerous contracts and reversal of those losses 4 - 345 - - 345
Incurred claims and other expenses 4 - - 123,443 5,354 128,797
Changes fo liabilities for incurred claims 4 - - (13,013) (6,228) {19,241}
46,209 345 110,430 (874) 156,111
Insurance service result (162,772) 345 110,430 (874) {52,871}
Insurance finance expenses 5 - - 2,279 267 2,546
Total changes in the statement of comprehensive income (162,772) 345 112,709 (607) (50,325}
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Cash flows

Premiums received

Insurance acquisition cash flows

Claims and other expenses paid

Total cash flows

Net insurance contract liabilities at 31 December

Insurance confract assets at 31 December
Insurance coniract liabilities at 31 December
Net insurance contract liabilities at 31 December

Liabilities for remaining

coverage Liabilities for incurred claims
Estimates of
Excluding the present
loss Loss value of future Risk
Nofe  component component cash flows adjustment Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
206,345 - - - 206,345
{45,312} - - - {(45,312)
_ - {114.,050) - (114,050)
161,033 - {114,050) - 46,983
15 96,355 7,725 75,274 8,249 187,603
96,355 7,725 75,274 8,249 187,603
15 96,355 7,725 75,274 8,249

187,603
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15.2 Roll-forward of reinsurance contract assets/liabilities

The roll-forward of the net asset or liability of for reinsurance contracts held, showing the liability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred

claims, is disclosed in the table below:

2024

Reinsurance contract assets at 1 January
Reinsurance contract liabilities at 1 January
Net reinsurance contract assets/(liabilities) at 1 January

Allocation of reinsurance premiums

Amounts recovered from reinsurers for incurred claims
Amounts recoverable for incurred claims and other expenses
Changes to amount recoverable on incurred claims

Net (expense)fincome from reinsurance contracts held
Reinsurance finance income
Total changes in the statement of comprehensive income

Assets for remaining

Amounts recoverable on

coverage incurred claims
Excluding Estimates of
loss Loss the present
recovery recovery  value of future Risk
Note component component cash flows adjustment Total
$'000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000
428 - 2,301 - 2,729
(1.133) - 106 - (1,027)
(705) - 2,407 - 1,702
(14,111) - - - (14,111)
- - 4,230 227 4,457
- - 2,978 130 3,108
- - 7,208 357 7,565
(14,111) - 7,208 357 (6,546)
- - 56 - 56
(14,111) - 7,264 357 (6,490}
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Cash flows

Premiums paid

Amount received

Total cash flows

Net reinsurance contract assets/(liabilities) at 31 December

Reinsurance contract assets at 31 December
Reinsurance contract liabilities at 31 December
Net reinsurance contract assets/(liabilities) at 31 December

Assets for remaining

Amounts recoverable on

coverage incurred claims
Excluding Estimates of
loss Loss {he present
recovery recovery  value of future Risk
Note component  component cash flows  adjustment Tota[
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000
16,262 - - - 16,282
(3,144) - (2,685) - (5,829)
13,138 - (2,685) - 10,453
15 (1,678) - 6,986 357 5,665
(1786} - 6.815 305 6,944E
{1,502} - 171 52 {1,279
15 {1,678) - 6,986 357

80 -

5,665
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2023

Reinsurance contract assets at 1 January
Reinsurance contract liabilities at 1 January
Net reinsurance contract assets/{liabilities) at 1 January

Allocation of reinsurance premiums

Amounts recovered from reinsurers for incurred claims
Amounts recoverable for incurred ¢laims and other expenses
Changes to amount recoverable on incurred claims

Net (expense)/income from reinsurance contracts held
Reinsurance finance expense
Total changes in the statement of comprehensive income

Note

51

Assets for remaining

Amounts recoverable on

coverage incurred claims
Excluding Estimates of
loss Loss the present
recovery recovery  value of future Risk
componernt component cash flows  adjusiment Total
$000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000
578 - 2,620 343 3,541
(934) - (209) 18 (1,125)
(356) - 2,411 361 2,416
(11,395) - - - (11,395)
- - 2,415 - 2415
- - (2,086) (372) (2,438)
- - 349 {372) (23)
(11,395) - 349 (372) (11,418)
- - 71 11 82
(11,395) - 420 (361) {11,336)
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Cash filows

Premiums paid

Amount received

Total cash flows

Net reinsurance contract assets/(liabilities) at 31 December

Reinsurance contract assets at 31 December
Reinsurance contract liabilities at 31 December

Net reinsurance contract assets/(liabilities) at 31 December

Assets for remaining

Amounts recoverable on

coverage incurred claims
Excluding Estimates of
loss Loss the present
recovery recovery  value of future Risk .
Note component  component cash flows adjustment Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $000
13,285 - - - 13,285
(2,239) - (424) - (2,663)
11,046 - (424} - 10,622
15 {705) - 2,407 - 1,702
428 - 2,301 - 2,729
(1,133) - 106 - (1,027)
15 (705) - 2,407 - 1,702

52 -
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16.

7.

18.

Balances with related parties

Balances with relaied parties are unsecured and interest free. The carrying amount
approximate their fair values as they are repayable on demand.

Other assets

Note 2024 2023

$000 $'000

Deposits 702 820
Prepayments 225 261
Loans, current portion 14 - 30
Accrued interest receivable 2,548 2,513
Sundry debtors 1,272 1,467
4,747 5,091

The carrying amounts of other assets approximate their fair values due to the shori-term

nature of these balances.

Short term investments

2024 2023

$'000 $000

Fixed deposits with financial institutions 71,485 65,343
Fixed deposits held in trust for policyholders 40,022 44,033
111,507 109,376

Current portion — matures within the next 12 months 114,507 109,376
Non-current portion — matures afier the next 12 months - -
111,507 109,376

Short term investments are fixed deposits held with financial institutions with a maturity period
of more than 3 months on date of acquisition and earn interest at the respective fixed deposit
rates, As at 31 December 2024 the weighted average effective interest rates was 1.73%

(2023: 1.81%).

The carrying amounts of short-term investments approximate their fair value.
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19. Cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances
Fixed deposits with financial institution

Cash and bank balances held in trust for policyholders

Fixed deposits held in trust for policyholders

2024 2023
$'000 $000
26,766 44,821
2,000 -
2,035 1,584
1.062 -
31,853 48,405

Included in cash and bank balances are fiduciary deposits held in trust for policyholders. As
such, only $28,766,000 (2023: $44,821,000) are considered as cash and cash equivalents as
reported in the cash flow statement. As at 31 December 2024 the weighted average effective

interest rates was 0.51% (2023: nil%).

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair value.

20, Other liabilities

Cash collateral from policyhoiders
Other creditors and accruals

2024 2023
$'000 $'000
43,108 45,615
14,555 10,234
57,663 55,849

The cash collateral obtained from policyholders are placed in cash and bank balances and
fixed deposits with financial institutions. The carrying amounts of other creditors approximate

their fair values due to the short-term nature of these balances.

21. Deferred tax

Deferred tax (assets)iabilities as at 31 December relates to the following:

Deferred tax liabilitiesf{assets)
Depreciation of fixed assets
FRS 117 adjustments

54

2024 2023

$'000 $'000

708 234
(444) (730)
264 (496)
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Movement in deferred tax liabilities/(assets):

Balance at 1 January
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss
Balance at 31 December

22, Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

Investments in debt securities

Loans

Due from related parties

Other assets (excludes prepayments)
Shori term investments

Cash and bank balances

Financial labilities
Due to related parties
Other liabilities (excludes GST payable)

Note

Notes

13

16
17
18
19

18
20

2024 2023
$'000 $'000
(496) (273)
760 (223)
264 (496)
2024 2023
$000 $000
279,799 271,174
- 30

2,313 1,925
4,522 4,800
111,507 109,376
31,853 46,405
429,994 433,710
618 787
55,785 54,087
56,403 54,874

The above financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost except for
investments in debt securities which are measured at fair market value.

23. Loans and receivables

Loans

Due from related parties

Other assets (excludes prepayments)
Short term investments

Cash and bank balances

Notes

14

17
18

2024 2023
$'000 $'000

- 30

2,313 1,925
4,522 4,800
111,507 109,376
31,853 46,405
160,195 162,536
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24,

25.

Contingent liabilities - litigation

In respect of insurance agreements entered into in the normal course of business, the
Company will face legal actions and has contingent liabilities arising thereon, where
proceedings have been brought on behalf of various alleged classes of claimants and certain
of these claimants seek damages of unspecified amounts. Whilst the outcome of such
matters cannot be predicted with certainty, it is the opinion of the management that the
ultimate outcome of such litigation will not have a material adverse impact on the Company's
financial conditions, results of operations or cash flows.

Insurance risk

The Company has established protocols to manage its insurance risks. This section
summarises these risks and the way the Company manages them.

(i)

Insurance risk

The risk under any one insurance centract is the possibility that the insured event
occurs and the uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an
insurance contract, this risk is random and therefore unpredictable.

For a portfolio of insurance contracis where the theory of probability is appiied to pricing
and provisioning, the principal risk that the Company faces under its insurance
contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments exceed the carrying amount of
the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency or severily of claims
and benefils are greater than estimated. Insurance events are random and the actual
number and amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the esfimate
established using statistical techniques.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller
the relative variability about the expected outcome will be. [n addition, a more
diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected across the board by a change in any
subset of the porifolio. The Company has developed its insurance underwriting strategy
to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of these categories to
achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected
outcome.

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type
and amount of risk, geographical location and type of industry covered,

The Company's overall business strategies, its tolerance of risks and its general risk
management philosophy are determined by management and approval by the Board of
Directors in accordance with prevailing economic and operating conditions. The
Company operates a system of delegated authorities across key functions including
underwriting, reinsurance management, claims management and investments.
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(i

The Company also faces insurance risks related to underwriting, the risk of incurring
higher claim costs than expected owing to the random nature of claims and their
frequency and severity and the risk of change in legal or economic conditions or
behavioural patterns affecting insurance pricing and conditions of insurance or
reinsurance cover. This may result in the insurer having either received too little
premium for the risks it has agreed to underwrite and hence has not enough funds to
invest and pay claims, or that claims are in excess of those expected. The Company
seeks to minimise underwriting risks with a balanced mix and spread of business
between classes of business and by chserving underwriting guidelines and limits,
conservaiive estimation of the claims provisions, and high standards applied to security
of reinsurers.

The following tables show the concentration of net insurance contract liabilities by type
of contract:

Reinsurance

Insurance held Net
$'000 $000 $'000
2024
Motor insurance 67,099 {360} 66,739
Accident & health insurance 32,360 {1,365) 30,995
Property & casualty insurance 81,486 {3,940} 77,546
Total net insurance contracts 180,945 {5,665) 175,280
2023
Motor insurance 65,768 (534) 65,234
Accident & health insurance 30,664 302 30,066
Property & casualty insurance 91,171 {1,470) 89,701
Total net insurance contracts 187,603 (1,702) 185,901

Reinsurance risk

The Company's has in place a Reinsurance Management Strategy as approved by the
Board of Directors. The primary objectives include the protection of shareholders' fund,
maintain strong capital and solvency position to provide security to the policyholders
and to facilitate the management of insurance risks. The Company's Reinsurance
management is addressed by the following protocols:

(a) Placement of appropriate treaty or facultative reinsurance is governed by the
Company's Reinsurance Management Strategy and Liberty Mutual Group
Reinsurance Security Standards and protocols.

{(b) Reinsurance arrangements are assessed annuzlly to deiermine their
effectiveness based on current exposures, historical trends, future business
strategy and disaster scenario testing.

(c) Reinsurance counterparties exposure is actively monitored with reference fo age
of outstanding reinsurance balances and reinsurers’ credit rating.
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(iff)

Sensitivities

The liability for incurred claims is sensitive to the key assumptions in the table below. It
has not been possible to quantify the sensitivity of certain assumptions such as
legislative changes or uncertainty in the estimation process.

The following sensitivity analysis shows the impact on gross and net liabilities, profit
before tax and equity for reasonably possible movements in key assumptions with all
other assumptions (refer Note 3.1) held constant. The correlation of assumptions will
have a significant effect in determining the ultimate impacts, but to demonstrate the
impact due to changes in each assumption, assumptions have been changed on an
individual basis. it should be noted that movements in these assumptions are non-
linear. The method used for deriving sensitivity information and significant assumptions
did not change from the previous period.

Impact on Impact on Impact on
profit before  profit before  equity gross Impact an
tax gross of tax net of of  equity net of
reinsurance  reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance
$'000 $'000 $'coo $'000
2024
Discount rate’
Increase by 5% (184) (1869} (153} (140}
Decrease by 5% 185 170 153 144
Risk adjustment
Increase by 5% 392 374 325 310
Decrease by 5% (392) (374) (325} (310}
Expected Loss
Increase by 5% 4,034 3,702 3,348 3,073
Decrease by 5% (4,034) {3,702) (3,348} (3,073}
2023
Discount rate’
Increase by 5% (212) (207) (176) (172)
Decrease by 5% 213 208 177 173
Risk adjustment
Increase by 5% 412 412 342 342
Decrease by 5% (412) (412) (342) (342)
Expected Loss
Increase by 5% 4,045 3,964 3,357 3,290
Decrease by 5% (4,045) {3,964) (3,357} (3,290)

" Discount rate sensilivities are disclosed as a variation in the actual rate by +/-5%, not as a 5%

movement in the rate iiself.
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(iv)

Claims development table

The following tables show the estimates of cumulative incurred claims, including both
claims notified and IBNR for each successive accident year at each reporting date,
together with cumulative payments to date.

As required by FRS 117, in setting claims provisions, the Company gives consideration
to the probability and magnitude of future experience being more adverse than
assumed which is reflected in the risk adjustment. In general, the uncertainty
associated with the ultimate cost of settling claims is greatest when the claim is at an
early stage of development. As claims develop, the ultimate cost of claims becomes

more certain.

The Company has not disclosed previously unpublished information about claims
development that occurred earlier than five years before the end of the annual reporiing
period in which it first applies FRS 117.

Accident Year 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
End of accident year 86,926 100,097 104,855 119,819 119,470 531,167
1 year later 79,277 91,555 95416 108,433 374,681
2 years later 76,489 87,716 89,812 254,017
3 years later 75,096 86,989 162,085
4 years later 74,165 74,155
Cumulative claims
incurred 74,1585 86,989 89,812 108433 119470 478,859
Cumulative paymenis
to date (72,497)  (83,125) (84,708) (92,117) ({70,875} (403,322)
Undiscounted liability for
Incurred claims 1,658 3,864 5,104 16,316 48,595 75,537
Outstanding fability
pertaining to accident
year 2019 and befare 2,055
Net outstanding claims
payable 1,013
Effect of discounting (3,547)
Total net liabilities for
incurred claims 75,058
Estimates of
the present
value of
future cash Risk
flows adjustment Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
Gross liabilities for incutred claims 74,563 7,838 82,401
Amount recoverable from reinsurer (6,986) {357) {7,343}
Total net liabilities for incurred claims 67,577 7,481 75,058
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26.

Financial risk

The Company is exposed to interest raie, equity prices, credit, currency and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and approves policies which provide the framework, guidelines for
averall financial risk management. In addition, the Company adopts more detailed operating
guideiines tailored to regulatory requirements, in particular to comply with the investment
limits of the respective insurance funds. Reviews of these policies are conducted annually
and guarterly as business and economic conditions require.

(M

Interest rate risk

Fixed income portfolios are affected by interest rate fluctuations as well as exposure to
credit risk. A buy and hold strategy are generally assumed, particularly in respect of the
Singapore funds due to the limitation of fixed interest assets available locally, and asset
allocation is made primarily on yield to maturity projection of investment grade fixed
income instruments. Duration risk is also taken info account to a certain extent, but it is
considered in conjunction with projected cash flows.

The following table sets out the carrying amount by maturity of the Company's financial
assets ihat are exposed to interest rate risk:

L.ess than 210 Qver

1 year byears Syears Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2024
Investments in debt securities 66,876 209,314 3,609 279,799
Short term investments 111,507 - - 111,507
Total 178,383 209,314 3,609 391,306
2023
Investments in debt securities 55,533 206,979 8,662 271,174
Short term investments 109,376 - - 109,376
Total 164,809 206,979 8,662 380,550

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in
interest rates with all other variables held constant, of the Company's profit and equity,
net of tax (through the impact on interest income from fixed deposits and investments in
debt securities):

Increasef increase/
(decrease} {decrease)
in profit in equity
after tax after tax
$'000 $'000
2024
increase in 15 basis points (643) (643)
Decrease in 15 basis points 510 510
2023
fncrease in 15 basis points (778) (778)
Decrease in 15 basis points 622 622
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(ii)

(i)

Equity price risk

The Company's investment portfolic comprises mainly of fixed incorme assets. As such,
it has very minimal exposure to adverse changes in the prices of equity securities.

Credit and concentration risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument, insurance contract issued
in an asset position or reinsurance contract held will cause a financial loss for the other
party by failing to discharge an obligation.

The Company minimises this risk by limiting ifs counterparties to a sufficient number of
major banks, financial institutions and listed corporations. Both internal and regulatory
limits are put in place and monitored to manage concentration risk. These limits are
reviewed on a regular basis by the management. The Company exposures are within
the cengentration limits set by the local regulators.

Direct credit risks represent the loss resulting from counterparty default. The fixed
income and money market investment decisions are based on stringent credit selection
criteria and rating by recognised rating agencies.

Credit risk arising from premiums and claims receivable from agents, brokers and
reinsurers are managed through ongoing monitoring and credit evaluation on a periodic
basis. The Company only deals with pre-approved reinsurance counlerparties with
good credit ratings.

The following table summarises the credit ratings of the Company’s financial assets as
at 31 December:

Investment
Grade

(BBB to AAA) Not rated Total
$'000 $'000 $000

2024
investment in debt securities 279,799 - 279,799
Loans - - -
Due from related parties 2,134 179 2,313
Other assets (excludes prepayments) 2,548 1,874 4,522
Short term investments 111,507 - 111,507
Cash and bank balances 31,853 - 31,853
427,841 2,153 429,994

2023
Investment in debt securities 271,174 - 271,174
Leans - 30 30
Due from related parties 1,585 340 1,925
Other assets (excludes prepayments) 2,513 2,287 4,800
Short term investments 109,376 - 100,376
Cash and bank balances 46,405 - 46,405
431,053 2,657 433,710

* Not rated investments in debt securities are all issued by Singapore Statutory Boards.
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(iv)

Fareign currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrurment,
insurance contract assets and/or liabilities will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates,

The Company is exposed to the effects of foreign exchange rate fluciuations because
of its foreign currency denominated investments, bank deposils and insurance policies.
Exposures to foreign currency risks are monitored on an ongeing basis. The
Company's principal transactions are carried out in Singapore dollar and its exposure to
foreign exchange risks are primarily currencies listed in the foliowing table.

Management does not consider the Company’s exposure o foreign currency exchange
fluctuations to be significant and therefore it does not enter into derivative contracts to
manage this risk.

The table below summarises the Company's financial by major currencies:

us Malaysia Hong Kong
SGD Equivalents Dollar Ringgit Dollar Total
$'000 $000 $°000
2024
Financial assets
Investment in debt securities 325 - - 325
Due from related parties 7 38 18 63
Other assets (excludes
prepayments) 4 - - 4
Cash and bank balances 4,368 62 - 4,430
4,704 100 18 4,822
2023
Financial assets
Investment in debi securities 305 - - 305
Due from related parties 180 - - 180
Other assets (excludes
prepayments} 4 - - 4
Cash and bank balances 3,437 728 - 4,165
3,926 728 - 4,654
Liguidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial
cbligations due to shortage of funds. The Company's exposure fo liquidity risk arises
primarily from mismatch of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities, The
Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.

As at the balance sheet date, all of the Company’s financial liabilities will mature within
one year except as disclosed in note 11 relating to non-current portion of lease liabilities
and all financial assets will mature within one year except as disclosed in note 26(i).
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27,

Maturity analysis for insurance and reinsurance contract liabilities {present value of
future cash flows basis

The following table summarises the maturity profile of portfolios of insurance contracts
issued that are liabilities and portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are liabilities
of the Company based on the estimates of the present value of the future cash flows
expected to be paid out in the periods presented.

Less than 2to Qver

1 year 5 years 5 years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2024
Insurance ceontract liabilities 45,827 27,664 1,072 74,563
Reinsurance coniract liabilities 132 39 - 171
Total 45,959 27,703 1,072 74,734
2023
Insurance contraci liabilities 44 276 30,018 982 75,274
Reinsurance contract liabilities 101 5 - 106
Total 44 377 30,021 982 75,380

Capital management
The Company's primary objectives when managing capital are:

i) To comply with the minimum capitalization requirement under the Singapore Insurance
Act;

i)  To safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can
continue to provide security for its policyholders, returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders; and

i)  To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the business.

The Company is also subject to regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions in which it
operates. Such regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of activities but also
impose certain restrictive provisions to minimise the risk of default and insolvency on the part
of the insurance companies to meet unforeseeable liabililies as they arise.

The Company maintains a ceriain level of capital to ensure solvency margins in excess of
regulatory requirements are maintained which in turn protect its policyholders and compliance
with regulatory requirements. The Company monitors its capital level and sclvency positicn
on a regular basis to assess whether such requirements have been met and reports to the
Menetary Autherity of Singapore its fund solvency and capital adequacy positions quarterly
and annually.

The Company has made no significant changes, from previous years to its policies and
processes for its capital structure and the Company has complied with all externally imposed
capital requirements in 2024 angd 2023.
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28,

Related party transactions

(2)

Transactions with related parties

The Company enters transactions with its holding companies and its subsidiaries in the
normal course of business. The purchases from related parties are made on terms and

conditions that are agreed between parties.

Petails of significant transactions carried out during the year with related parties are as

follows:

Non-Trade

Dividend receive/receivable from subsidiary

Dividend paid/payable to holding company

Head Office IT support services paid/payable
to holding company

Head Office consulting services paid/payable
to holding company

Reimbursement of expenses paid/payable
to holding company

Reimbursement of expenses receive/receivable
from holding company

IT support services mark-up cosis receive/receivable
from holding company

Non-IT support services mark-up cosis receive/receivable
from holding company

IT infrastructure reimbursement received/receivable
from holding company

Management expenses recharges received/receivable
from holding company

Investment management fees paid/payable
to a related party

Reimbursement of expenses paid/payable
to related parties

Accounting service fees receivedfreceivable
from a related party

Net management services receivedireceivable
from related parties

Trade

Holding Company

Premium paid/payable
Comrmission receivedfreceivable
Claims recovered/recoverable

Related Parties

Net premium received/receivable
Net commission paid/payable
Net claims paid/payable

2024 2023
000 $'000
- 4,825
31,100 93,700
2,371 2,449
1,144 916
- 1,463

132 -
240 273
322 -

- 2

523 154
385 316
1,483 930
30 58
3,645 3,535
4,971 7.477
1.221 1,105
63 77
1,993 3.316
216 270
3,395 3,265
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(b) Loans to related parties

2024
$'000

Car loans to key management personnel (Note 14) -

2023
$'000

25

{c) Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel of the Company include all directors and senior

management. The summary of compensation of key management personnel for the

year is as follows:

2024
$'000
Salaries and CPF contributions 2,164
Bonuses 802
Other short-term benefits 284

2023
$'00D

1,728
354
502

Management is of the opinion that all the above transactions have been entered into in the

normal course of business and have been established on terms and conditions that are

agreed between the parties.

29, Events occurring after the reporting year

On 19 March 2025 and 14 April 2025, the Company has made dividend payments of

$22,000,000 and $3,000,000 respectively to its immediate holding company, Summit Asia

Investments Holdings Pte Lid.

30. Authorisation of financial statements for issue

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 were authorised for issue in

accordance with a resolution of the directors on 24 Aprif 2025,





